City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

The Architectural Design Review Committee (ADRC) held its regular monthly meeting on June 2, 2026, in
Council Chambers, at 37 Green St, Concord, NH.

Attendees: Co-Chair Elizabeth Durfee Hengen, Co-Chair Jay Doherty, Member Claude Gentilhomme,

Member Douglas Proctor, Member Ron King, and Member Merle Thorpe

Absent: Alternate Member Amanda Savage

Staff: Alec Bass, Assistant City Planner — Community Planning; Brian Tremblay, Planning and

3.

4.

Zoning Inspector; and Krista Tremblay, Administrative Technician III

Call to Order
Co-Chair Doherty called the meeting to order at 8:31 a.m.

Minutes — Approve meeting minutes from May 5, 2026
Co-Chair Hengen moved, seconded by Member Gentilhomme, to approve the meeting minutes from May
5, 2026, as written. All in favor. Co-Chair Doherty abstained due to not attending the meeting. The
motion passed.

Staff Memorandum

Sign Applications

4.1 Branwen’s Sacred Cove, LLC, on behalf of Harold E & Judith A Ekstrom, requests architectural design

review recommendation for a new 2-square-foot non-illuminated freestanding sign panel sign (SP-0772-
2026) at 15 Green St in the Civic Performance (CVP) District. (PL-ADR-2026-0180) (2026-048)

Mariah Bridgeford (15 Green St Unit 2, Concord) is present to represent this application. Ms. Bridgeford
noted the sign presented is too short.

Co-Chair Doherty asked if the height of the panel will be similar to the bar that is behind it.

Ms. Bridgeford responded yes.

Merle Thorpe arrived at 8:35 a.m.

Co-Chair Hengen asked if you make it fit the width are the letters expanding.

Ms. Bridgeford stated she is hoping that when it expands it will make the letters a little larger.

Member King suggested to look at that before you finalize because it could stretch the letters in odd way.

Member Gentilhomme suggested using a brighter color on the letters because there is no enough contrast
between the letters and the background to read the sign.

Member Gentilhomme made a motion to approve as submitted with the understanding it will be similar to
what seeing and it will be stretching from pole to pole.

Discussion

Co-Chair Doherty asked if Member Gentilhomme wanted to note the height of it will match the white bar
behind it.

Member Proctor suggested to say the sign will be adjusted to match the size of the blackout panel.

Ms. Bridgeford stated she will try to have it match the back white panel. It will be shrunken down and
wider.

Co-Chair Hengen suggested to look at having lettering go across one line.


https://www.concordnh.gov/Archive.aspx?ADID=9274
https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/25254/Staff-Memorandum-for-Signs_2026
https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26003/SP_15-Green-St-Branwens-Sacred-Cove

4.2

City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

Ms. Bridgeford stated that is what she will try to do and have one straight line.
Member Proctor suggesting taking the two lines and juxtapose.

Member King noted they are approving something that they have no idea what it will look like. Member
King noted the width is good for the logo which takes up the whole height. If you try to squeeze it the
logo will be tight and hard to see.

Co-Chair Hengen noted it could be raised up a tad and give more space below.

Member King suggested to leave the height of the sign the same and extend the blue off to the side and it
will make the letters more pronounced when you read them.

Mr. Bass noted the committee is recommending the condition that the sign shall fit within the width
dimension of the white bar behind it, a gap shall remain between the bottom of the sign and the wooden
post, the lettering maybe on one line and a suggestion that a brighter yellow gold be used to increased
readability on the dark background.

Member King made a motion to recommend the Planning Board approve the application as submitted
with the following conditions: that the sign shall fit into the width dimensions of the white bar behind it; a
gap shall remain between the bottom of sign and wooden rail; the lettering may be on one line; and, a
suggestion that a brighter yellow/gold be used to increase readability on the dark background. Member
Gentilhomme seconded. All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.

Real 603 NH Home & Lifestyle Group, on behalf of Real 603 and Better Business Bureau of NH,
requests architectural design review recommendations for 2 new externally illuminated freestanding sign
panels of 12-square-feet (SP-0774-2026) and 6-square-feet (SP-0775-2026), to replace existing sign
panels on an existing frame at 48 Pleasant Street in the Civic Performance (CVP District) (PL-ADR-
2026-0181) (2026-049)

Shannon Mounsey (48 Pleasant St, Concord) is present to represent this application. Ms. Mounsey stated
there is an existing sign and their plan is to take the‘existing sign and cover it.

Co-Chair Doherty asked if they are adding the panel below it.

Ms. Mounsey responded yes, that is not currently in place.

Mr. Bass stated there are two sign applications to be reviewed. One for the top and other for the bottom.
Member King asked if'the sign is two sided.

Ms. Mounsey responded yes.

Member King asked if there is lighting.

Ms. Mounsey responded yes.

Member Gentilhomme made a motion to recommend the Planning Board approve as submitted. Member
King seconded.

Discussion

Member Thorpe stated the lighting is distracting when you go up and down that street and suggested
landscaping under the sign to block the light.

Co-Chair Hengen asked if it is the light itself or the fixtures.

Member Thorpe stated the light itself from the fixtures and a shrub would block it.
Member Proctor suggested to replaced the light fixtures as they might be an energy suck.
Member Thorpe suggested something that is shielded and do not see the fixture.


https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26004/SP_48-Pleasant-St-Real-603

43

City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT
Member King asked if you cannot read the sign at night.
Member Thorpe responded correct it is poor visibility.
Ms. Mounsey does not think the light is working at this time.

Member Gentilhomme noted if you want your sign to be read at night you do not want to blind people as
they are driving by and cannot read sign.

Co-Chair Doherty noted this is just a comment.

Co-Chair Hengen stated a recommendation.

Member Thorpe would recommend the application be a condition upon replacing the light fixtures.
Member Gentilhomme added that to his motion. Member King seconded.

Mr. Bass asked as a condition of approval.

Co-Chair Doherty stated it is more of a suggestion.

Co-Chair Hengen noted they are recommending approval of the signs as submitted with the further
recommendation.

Mr. Bass noted everything thing they make are recommendations with conditions or suggestions and
Member Thorpe wanted to make a condition of the approval.

Member Gentilhomme stated it is a ‘suggestion.

Co-Chair Doherty agreed there was a comment about poles, light fixtures, shrubs and a whole bunch of
things.

Member Thorpe stated either shrubs or replace fixtures to eliminate the glare.

Member Gentilhomme stated with a suggestion that measures be taken to eliminate the glare of the
lighting that prevents people from reading the sign at night.

Co-Chair Doherty asked Member Gentilhomme if he wanted to add that to his motion.

Member Gentilhomme responded yes.

Member King seconded.

Member Thorpe noted a suggestion is pretty week.

Member Proctor suggested to investigate replacing lighting or adding landscaping to reduce the glare.

Mr. Bass stated Member Thorpe had comments and discussion. Member Gentilhomme amended his
motion which was seconded by Member King. The motion was to recommend the Planning Board
approve the application as submitted with the suggestion that the external lights be replaced with an
updated direct light fixture ordandscaping be installed beneath the sign.

Member Gentilhomme is ok with that.

Mr. Bass stated that suggestion is optional and not bound to replace the lighting fixtures with this motion.
Co-Chair Doherty noted there is a motion on the table and called for a vote.

All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.

Green Bear Signs and Graphic, LLC, on behalf of Flomac Limited Partnership, and Back Nine, requests
an architectural design review recommendation for a new 24-square-foot internally illuminated free
standing tenant panel sign (SP-0770-2026), to be installed on an existing freestanding sign, at 8 Loudon
Rd in the Gateway Performance (GWP) District. (PL-ADR-2026-0174) (2026-036)


https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26023/SP_8-Loudon-Rd-Backnine
https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26023/SP_8-Loudon-Rd-Backnine

City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

No one is present to represent this application.

Mr. Bass stated last month the committee recommended the Planning Board approve the building wall
sign and the applicant missed their tenant panel sign.

Member Gentilhomme asked if wall sign was the same sign with white background.
Mr. Bass noted it was channel letters.

Member Thorpe asked if the black lettering illuminates.

Mr. Bass stated the whole sign illuminates.

Member Gentilhomme made a motion to recommend that the Planning Board approve the application as
submitted with the condition that the white be opaque when lighted at night leaving the letters and logo
minimally outlined. Member King seconded.

Discussion

Co-Chair Doherty asked a suggestion be that this whole thing is reversed with a black background.
Member Thorpe stated it might not fit with their branding.

Co-Chair Hengen noted or their other sign and it is more visible the way they are proposing it.
Member Thorpe asked if the intent to have a white silhouette follow each of the white letters.
Mr. Bass noted leaving the letters and logo.outlined.

Member Thorpe asked how wide is the outline.

Member Gentilhomme did not know and noted maybe an inch.

Mr. Bass stated he is not sure if they need to get that specific.

Member Gentilhomme asked to throw in the word minimum.

Member Proctor noted the rest of the signs are white.

Co-Chair Doherty noted there is a motion with a second, asked if more discussion and with none called
for a vote. All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.

4.4 NEOPCO Signs, on behalf of Spring Corner Condominium and Nonna’s Place, LLC, requests
architectural design review recommendations for a new 13.5-square-foot externally illuminated building
wall sign (SP-0780-2026), which involves removal of the existing freestanding sign and relocating of the
top portion for the sign to be mounted on the building, and to relocate the existing protruding blade sign
from the building, onto one of the proposed columns (SP-0781-2026) at 60 Pleasant Street, in the Civic
Performance District. (PL-ADR-2026-0173) (2026-033)

Remi Hinxhia (60 Pleasant St,/.Concord) and Glen Schadlick (5 Crosby St, Concord) are present to
represent this application. Mr. Schadlick stated this is for the signs up front. There will be an extension of
the building going towards the street.

Mr. Bass stated the building changes came to the committee last month and the Committee recommended
the Planning Board approve them as submitted and there was no signage.

Mr. Schadlick stated the existing sign out front will be moved to the front of this new structure. There will
not be any lighting. There is an existing ground sign that will be removed. There will be a new flat sign
that will go onto the building and will have indirect goose neck lighting shining down on the sign.

Member King made a motion to recommend that the Planning Board approve the application as
submitted. Co-Chair Hengen seconded. All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.


https://www.concordnh.gov/DocumentCenter/View/26005/SP_60-Pleasant-St-Nonnas

City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

5. Building Permit Applications

5.1

None

6. Site Plan Applications

6.1

6.2

6.3

Gallagher, Callahan, & Gartrell, PC, Jones and Beach Engineering, Inc, and Onyx Partners, Ltd, on behalf
of Onyx SteepleGate Concord, LLC, Onyx Regal Concord, LLC, and Onyx TD Concord, LLC, requests
non-binding architectural design review comments, in anticipation of future major site plan applications
where architectural design review will be required, based on a comprehensive development plan
application for the consolidation of condominium and resubdivision into separate lots and ownership, and
a proposed mixed-use redevelopment to include certain on and offsite improvements, a fueling station,
and approximately 600 residential unit apartments, approximately 329,200-square-feet of
commercial/retail, and approximately 5,040 square-feet of restaurant use at Tax Maps: 611Z Lot 40
addressed as 270 Loudon Rd; 611Z Lot 39 addressed as 282 Loudon Rd; 61Z Lot 9 addressed as 277
Sheep Davis Rd 270; and, 611Z Lot 41 addressed as 260 Loudon Road, all within the Gateway
Performance (GWP) District. (2026-041) (PL-CDP-2026-0002)

Mr. Bass stated this applicant has requested to continue to the June 30" Design Review Committee
meeting. They are in the comprehensive development plan application stage and they want to get non-
binding feedback.

Co-Chair Doherty asked the committee to do research before the meeting.

Brixmore Properties, requests an architectural design review reccomondation as part of an amendment to
an approved site plan application for revisions to the building fagade and lighting plans for the addition of
decorative building lighting at 80 Storrs St in the Opportunity Corridor Performance (OCP) District
(2024-062) (PL-AMEND-2026-0023)

Mr. Bass stated this applicant will not be present today. This is the Burlington Coat remodel and tenant
cut in there is a prominent fixture in middle of site with decorative lighting. Mr. Bass stated they told
them the lighting was not approved and they had to turn it off. They intend to go through the process but
have other fagade changes. They are trying to line everything up to come to New Hampshire once and
asked to continue to no date certain. They will come back when they are ready and that part of the
building will have no lighting.

Wilcox & Barton Inc, on behalf of 3JB, LLC, requests an architectural design review recommendation as
part of a major site plan approval for the construction of a new 2-story, 3,500-square-foot commercial
addition with basement, and the conversion of existing structures into 5 residential units, and certain site
improvements at Tax Map 7413Z Lot 9, addressed as 47-49 South State St in the Urban Commercial
(UC) District. (2026-040) (PL-SPR-2026-0060) (PL-CUP-2026-0111)

Erin Lambert (2 Home Ave, Concord) and Brandon Reed (no address provided) are present to represent
this application. Ms. Lambert stated in the area to the east will be an attached two-story townhouse with
three units. A lot of the site will remain as is. They will increase the site circulation and they will add five
parking spaces near the entrance to the florist.

Member Thorpe asked about the five units.

Ms. Lambert stated two will be in the existing portion of the building at the north and there will be three
townhouses. Ms. Lambert noted for landscaping they are adding trees and grass around the townhouses.

Mr. Reed stated they are three-bedroom townhouses that are all around 1900 square feet a piece with
single car garage and full basement with bulkhead. Mr. Reed noted they are looking at gray tones dark on
the bottom and light on the top with cedar impressions.

Member Thorpe asked if there is any intended landscaping in the zone for the McLeod’s Florist.



6.4

6.5

City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

Ms. Lambert responded yes.
Member Thorpe asked about the parking in the foreground is related to McLeod’s.

Ms. Lambert stated it is all the same property and it has a required number of spaces. Each dwelling unit
requires one parking spaces and they can park in the garage.

Co-Chair Doherty asked about the dumpster.

Ms. Lambert it will be screened with white vinyl and they do have a waiver to make it a little smaller. The
dumpster now does not meet the setback requirements.

Co-Chair Hengen noted the predominant feature is the garage door and it is an unwelcoming front of any
building.

Mr. Bass stated they have approved multiple subdivisions with the condition of the architectural design
approval that the garages are setback from the plain of thefront of the building.

Co-Chair Hengen made a motion recommend the Planning Board continue the application to allow the
applicant time to incorporate the comments and suggestions made by the Architectural Design Review
Committee at their June 2, 2026 meeting. Member Gentilhomme seconded. All in favor. The motion
passed unanimously.

Wilcox & Barton Inc, on behalf of Two Wheeler Holdings, LLC, requests architectural design review
recommendation as part of a major site plan for the conversion of an existing 30,310-square-foot building
along with a 2,470-square-foot addition fora car dealership, 70,270-square-feet of additional pavement
for driveways, parking, and vehicle storage, and other associated site improvements at Tax Map 782Z Lot
44, addressed as 110 Manchester Street in the Highway Commercial (CH) and Office Park Performance
(OFP) Districts. (2026-044) (PL-SPR-2026-0061)

Erin Lambert (2 Home Ave, Concord) and Matt Lawton (152 Conant St, Beverly MA) are present to
represent this application.

Member Gentilhomme made a motion to recommend that the Planning Board approve the application as
submitted. Member King seconded. All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.

Northpoint Engineering, LLC, on behalf of Granite Municipal Manufacturing & Sales, LLC, requests
architectural design review recommendation as part.of a major site plan for the construction of 3 new
31,200-square-foot gross area, 4-story buildings for mixed flex industrial and self-storage use, a new
2,040-square-foot gross area, 2-story building office and caretaker apartment building, and associated site
improvements at Tax Map 40Z Lot 6, addressed as 52 Locke Road in the Industrial (IN) and Open Space
Residential (RO) Districts. (2026-045) (PL-SPR-2026-0062) (PL-CUP-2026-0114)

Jeff Lewis (119 Storrs St Unit 201, Concord) is present to represent this application.
Member Gentilhomme left the meeting at 10:22 a.m.

Co-Chair Hengen made a motion to recommend the Planning Board be continued due to many conflicts in
dimensional information provided in the architectural renderings and elevations provided. The applicant
shall also revise the treatment of fenestrations, materials, and colors. The committee recommends the
applicant provide physical material samples when they return to ADRC for their subsequent review and
recommendation. Member King seconded. All in favor. The motion passed unanimously.

7. Other Business

7.1
7.2
7.3

Interim Zoning Amendment Efforts
Any other business which may legally come before the Committee.
Adjourn



City of Concord, New Hampshire
Architectural Design Review Committee
June 2, 2026 Minutes - DRAFT

Member King moved, seconded by Co-Chair Hengen, to adjourn the meeting at 11:30 a.m. All in favor.

The motion passed unanimously.

Respectfully submitted,
Korista Sremblay

Krista Tremblay
Administrative Technician III




